MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD ON TUESDAY, 12 FEBRUARY 2019

COUNCILLORS

PRESENT Derek Levy (Chair), Huseyin Akpinar, Tolga Aramaz, Susan

Erbil and Gina Needs, Andy Milne and Jim Stevens

ABSENT Lee David-Sanders

STATUTORY 1 vacancy (Church of England diocese representative), Mr **CO-OPTEES**: Simon Goulden (other faiths/denominations representative),

Mr Tony Murphy (Catholic diocese representative), Alicia Meniru & 1 vacancy (Parent Governor representative) - Italics

Denotes absence

OFFICERS: Peter George (Programme Director, Meridian Water)

Bindi Nagra (Director of Health & Adult Social Care) Doug Wilson (Head of Strategy & Service Development) Clara Seery (Assistant Director, Education, Schools &

Children's Services)

Kari Manovitch (Acting Director of Customer Experience &

Change)

Pragati Somaia (Transformation Manager) Andy Ellis (Governance & Scrutiny Officer)

Stacey Gilmour (Governance & Scrutiny Secretary)

Also Attending: Council Nesil Caliskan (Leader of the Council)

Councillor Alev Cazimoglu (Cabinet Member for Health &

Social Care)

Councillor Edward Smith (Call-In Lead)
Councillor Lindsay Rawlings (Observing)

One member of the public

957 WELCOME & APOLOGIES

Councillor Levy welcomed all attendees to the meeting. The following substitutes were noted:

Councillor Andy Milne for Councillor Lee David-Sanders Councillor Jim Stevens for Councillor Edward Smith

Apologies for lateness had been received from Councillor Edward Smith who had unfortunately been delayed by traffic.

In view of Councillor Smith's delayed arrival, the order of the agenda was changed, and Item 5 was taken first. For the interest of clarity however, the minutes are shown in the agenda order.

958 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

959

CALL IN OF REPORT: MERIDIAN WATER - NATIONAL GRID OVERAGE

The Chair opened this item by making a statement about the call-in process and his observations regarding items coming forward as a lot of the recent call-ins seemed to focus on what 'is not in the report' rather than what is included. The call-in process should not be used for simply seeking information as this could be gained by other means, e.g. talking to officers.

Call-Ins have a very specific function and OSC is not necessarily a surrogate for information exchange. Call-Ins are welcomed as they are very much part of the democratic process. However, the reasons cited for the call-in should be based on information that is deemed weak in the report and not what is thought to be absent. It can potentially make a call-in weaker if using them to procure additional information.

The Committee received a report from the Director of Law and Governance outlining details of a call-in received on the Portfolio decision taken on Meridian Water – National Grid Overage (taken on 25/01/19)

NOTED that this report was considered in conjunction with the information in the part 2 agenda.

All the discussion on this item took part in the part 2 section of the meeting.

960 UPDATE ON MERIDIAN WATER

RECEIVED an update from Peter George, Programme Director, Meridian Water.

The Leader Councillor Nesil Cazimoglu left the meeting at this point but advised the committee that she was happy to take any further questions from Councillors regarding Meridian Water outside of the meeting and she would respond to them accordingly.

NOTED:

- i) Background information was provided on the Meridian Water project. It will deliver 10,000 homes and thousands of jobs. The council has acquired 35.5 hectares of land within the site to date.
- ii) Following the withdrawal of Barrett and subsequently PCPD (as reserve bidder) the procurement process for a master developer partner was concluded by Cabinet on 25th July 2018 (KD4022). The

- Council has since taken on the role of master developer and will lead the development of Meridian Water.
- iii) The Council will lead the phasing of the development by creating contiguous plots of land that can then be developed. The first phase of development is Meridian One on the Willoughby Lane site.
- iv) The new Meridian Station is part of the wider £170m Lea Valley Rail Programme. It is set to open on 19th May 2019 and will take up to four million passengers per year directly south to Stratford, with onward connections to Liverpool Street, City Airport and Heathrow, and north to Stansted and Cambridge.
- v) Angel Road mainline service is currently 0-2 trains per hour (tph), this service will commence at Meridian Water Station in May following the existing timetable. From September services will commence on the 3rd track which will layer an additional 2 trains per hour through day service. This will realise a 2-3/4tph. Construction is progressing well, and delivery of the station is on time and on budget.
- vi) The Council has submitted a bid in December for £156M of the MHCLG Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF). The bid is seeking funding for strategic infrastructure in Meridian Water to unlock the site for housing development. If successful, the funding will provide infrastructure required for the 10,000 new homes in Meridian Water.
- vii) The bids are currently being assessed by central government and the announcement of the schemes that have successfully secured funding is expected in March 2019.
- viii) Procurement of a developer partner for Meridian One is progressing.

 Tenders are returned on 15th February and the Council is expecting to enter into contract during the summer subject to Cabinet approval.
- ix) Further information was provided on Meridian Two as well as employment uses. The ambition is to secure two thirds of ground floor space as non-residential space, this is likely to be a mix of retail, community and workspace.
- x) If the Council is successful in securing the HIF funding and delivers key strategic infrastructure, the attractiveness of the site will be greatly increased to developers of employment offers.
- xi) The Council is progressing with its major meanwhile project Meridian Works with support from the GLA. The Council is marketing two meanwhile sites: Teardrop and Stonehill and further information was provided on these.
- xii) The Council is working in partnership with the Vibration Group to activate the Orbital Business Park site as a cultural and creative hub. Notably this involves Meridian Water hosting Field Day Festival in June this year, one of the UK's leading festivals this summer.
- xiii) With regards to Project Management the restructure report detailing the resourcing of the Meridian Water Team is in the final stages of approval. The restructure will provide the team with additional resource to deliver projects.
- xiv) The Meridian Water Team has project management support from Stace, including a full-time programme manager. The team regularly reviews the strategic and urgent risk registers to monitor the main risks concerning Meridian Water.

Following Peter's update, the following comments/questions were raised:

- The project is still viable without the success of the infrastructure bid but viability becomes more marginal. In the event that the investment is not secured Peter advised Members that he will bring forward a report to Cabinet in July outlining the intentions to move the project forward and providing details of what other funding opportunities can be explored.
- Discussions took place regarding the Risk Register (Appendix 5 of the report) and explanations were provided.
- Concerns were raised regarding the size of Field Day Festival. The Chair, Councillor Levy advised that there is a licensing application coming forward in relation to this music event. Any decision will be underpinned by a Safety Advisory Group. If they feel it is an unsafe event it cannot go ahead despite whether a license is granted.
- 80,000 people are expected to attend the music event across the weekend of the 6th/7th June 2019. Meridian Water station is scheduled to open on 19th May this year, therefore visitors to the event can access the site via the station. Contingencies are also in place with a coach drop being set up. The site is also only a 25-minute walk from Tottenham Hale station therefore within walking distance. The operators of this event, Vibration Group are leaders in their field and successfully run multiple festivals across England and Europe.
- With regards to the tenders for a developer partner for Meridian One, Peter said that overall the council is looking for good design quality, speed of delivery, best price and the highest number of affordable housing.
- The Strategic Planning Document that governs Meridian Water has been for inspection and will be adopted shortly. This plan sets out the Planning Policy Framework for Meridian Water in determining the numbers of affordable housing at Meridian water.

The Chair thanked Peter for attending the meeting and looked forward to receiving further updates as and when they became available.

961 CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH & SOCIAL CARE, COUNCILLOR ALEV CAZIMOGLU

The Chair introduced this item and welcomed Councillor Alev Cazimoglu as Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care. He asked Councillor Cazimoglu to give a brief overview of what she considers to be the key objectives and priorities in respect of the portfolio.

Councillor Cazimoglu thanked Members for the opportunity to attend the meeting and felt that it was a good time to come and talk about what she wants from her role as well as providing an update on progress to date.

She introduced Officers from the key areas of her portfolio; Bindi Nagra, Director of Health & Adult Social Care and Doug Wilson, Head of Strategy & Service Development.

Councillor Cazimoglu highlighted the following:

- Social Care is under greater challenges nationally and the sector is very much in crisis.
- There has been some short term, limited solutions however there appears to be no long-term plans in place and there doesn't seem to be any real solutions or guidance coming from central government.
- Despite this uncertainty Enfield should be very proud as we continue to deliver very safe and good quality health and social care services.
- During the nine years of central government cuts and austerity the department has risen to the challenge and been innovative in an attempt to deliver the very best services that it can under the current circumstances.
- Despite the national picture we are doing very well locally. However, the pressures do not go away, they just pop up somewhere else and therefore this impact is often seen in other services across the council.
- Lack of sufficient social care funding will have a huge impact on health services. There is currently a lot of talk regarding integration and the possibility of the health service and social care services working more closely together to make the users' experiences and outcomes better.

Bindi Nagra, Director of Health & Social Care provided some further information on the service highlighting the following:

- A lot of work has taken place over the past nine months in an attempt to live within the budget set and the service continues to put effort into this to deliver the agreed savings.
- The values of the organisation and staff here at Enfield are much better than other places. Although money and resources are tight, we continue to do the very best for our service users and aim to continue this.
- We provide our service users with Direct Payments to allow them as much independence as possible and to make their own choices.
 This proves the most cost effective and results in better outcomes.
- Relationships with our health partners is challenging. The CCG in Enfield has been in difficulty for a decade which therefore causes ongoing problems. We are currently looking at how to join up and integrate services at an operational level. We will also continue to work with the CCG on budgets and over the coming year there will be a much clearer picture of the Council's agenda for working with health services.
- We will continue to work closely with North Middlesex Hospital as this relationship has resulted in low levels of delayed discharges in Enfield.

- In response to a question about customer satisfaction levels Bindi explained that most members of the public who have no contact with Adult Social care, as it is not a universal service and therefore does not affect them, only have something to say/an opinion when it actually impacts them, therefore it can prove somewhat difficult to gage public perception and how satisfied they are with the services provided. We can only really talk to and obtain feedback by people who are directly impacted by Adult Social Care.
- Councillor Alev Cazimoglu felt that as a society we do not talk about, understand or fund social care services enough. Fifty thousand people a year die waiting for social care (figures published by Age UK), which is a massive and alarming number.
- Further discussions took place around mental health and sheltered accommodation and some of the problems relating to this. Doug Wilson, Head of Strategy & Service provided information on supported living and how Enfield often imports people from other boroughs. He explained that landlords often buy properties then set themselves up as supported living providers therefore Enfield Council are not always aware of who has been housed there.
- He went on to say that Enfield is proud of how it's been able to safeguard its early intervention offer to mental health services, as this is the difference between individuals being able to live independently or falling back into crisis. We have also safeguarded out early intervention offer to the Voluntary Sector and will continue with this work.
- Bindi added that he is always conscious how the quality of housing and useful employment impacts on peoples' mental health.
 Fundamentally we would have less people in distress if we had decent levels of housing and adequate employment opportunities.
- Councillor Erbil spoke about the Deaf Community Forum and advised how they were not happy with the new service provided by CommUNITY Barnet. She was interested to know whether feedback from service users was taken into consideration. Doug advised that he had been very deeply involved in this whole process and explained in detail the conversations and meetings that had taken place with the Deaf Project/ENDIG and Enfield Disability Action (EDA) with a view to reaching a mutual agreement for the service moving forward. The council had been extremely mindful of working with the Deaf Community when making decisions about funding for the Deaf Project and did everything possible to reach a solution that best suited the service users. However, despite numerous meetings/conversations the EDA/Deaf project were not able to submit a plan for the best use of the funding available. Therefore. Enfield Council commissioned a service and the contract was awarded to CommUNITY Barnet. The service (which is a like for like service with that previously offered) is now up and running and available for service users.
- In response to a question about the uptake in Enfield for Disabled Facilities Grants Bindi advised that this system is well used with over £2M being spent each year on this.

The Chair thanked Councillor Cazimoglu and the Officers for their interesting and informative update.

962 SPEECH & LANGUAGE THERAPY (SLT) SERVICE

Clara Seery, Assistant Director, Education, Schools and Children's Services presented this report which provided updated information regarding the Speech and Language Therapy (SLT) Service for school-aged children in Enfield. It sets out the progress to date in improving the customer experience for responsive repairs and a timeline for a full options appraisal of future delivery models, and a recommendation to Cabinet based on the outcome of that analysis.

The Overview & Scrutiny Committee were asked to note the report and comments were welcomed.

The following was highlighted:

- Local Authorities have a statutory duty to work with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in their local area to deliver the SEND Reforms. This includes Speech and language Therapy.
- ii) Provision of the Speech and Language Therapy Service for Enfield's school-age children and young people is primarily provided by Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental Health Trust (BEH-MHT). Enfield Council and Enfield CCG fund this provision jointly.
- iii) The latest (December 2018) figures from BEH-MHT show a caseload of 694 children accessing SLT services as part of their Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) provision. This is a 56% increase on caseload data from 2015 (445 children).
- iv) This caseload is covered by 7.3 FTE therapists for mainstream schools, and 6 FTE therapists for special schools. In addition, there are 4.8 FTE specialist Clinical Leads. Provision is also provided within six Additional Resource Provision (ARP) settings (a total of 0.6FTE) and four Speech and Language Resources Bases (SLRBs) (a total of 2 FTE).
- v) Further provision in Enfield includes the following: Youth Offending Unit, LAC Virtual School, Orchardside School, Early Years Social Inclusion and West Lea School. These are commissioned separately to the local authority/CCG partnership, by the organisations themselves.
- vi) As of September 2018, referrals to the Speech and Language Service provided by BEH-MHT have been accepted for children who meet one of the following criteria:
 - The child or young person has a primary health, speech and language need.
 - A request for a statutory needs assessment has been agreed by the SEN Panel.
 - The child already has an EHCP and has/is suspected to have a significant speech and language need, but no speech

and language assessment was carried out when the EHCP was issued.

- vii) In order to support them in continuing to support speech, language and communication needs, BEH-MHT also offers schools a purchasable range of support packages. These may include staff training, support and additional assessments, and are tailor made to the school's requirements.
- viii) Clara said that they believe there are children who would benefit from the service who don't meet of the three criteria (please see above). Parents are also frustrated at not being able to access Speech and Language Services.
- ix) She felt that the service was now in a position to know where the pressures are and now need to go back to the CCG and Health Services to look at different ways of working and possible changes to the service.
- x) Overall there has been an increase in caseloads but a decrease in resources. Enfield Council's available funding for school-aged SLT was reduced by £52,191 in 2016 due to reduction in Dedicated Schools Grant funding; the available funding has since remained static at £693,389. The CCG provides approximately £1.25M. This means a total of circa £1.95M is available each year to provide the SLT service, for a current estimate of 700 school-aged children and young people.
- xi) It is therefore proving a challenge to provide the SLT service in the same way it has been delivered in the past.
- xii) The total number of children and young people aged 0-25 with EHCPs reported as being supported at the end of 2017 was 2,187. At the end of the financial year 2017/18, there was 2243 pupils supported.

Following Clara's update the following questions/comments were made:

- Q. What is driving the increase in referrals?
- A. The numbers of children diagnosed with autism is increasing. The age for accessing support has also increased from school age only to 0-25 years, which has subsequently had an impact on the number of referrals.

The Chair thanked Clara for her informative update and said that the report leaves very little room for manoeuvre as clearly the service is doing all the right things which was very much applauded and appreciated.

963 CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE ACTION PLAN-TO FOLLOW

RECEIVED a report from Kari Manovitch, Acting Director, Customer Experience & Change, setting out the progress made to date in delivering the Customer Experience programme and the future plans.

NOTED:

- i) The Customer Experience Strategy 2018-2022 was approved by Cabinet in September 2018 and sets out how the Council will deliver on its vision of a positive customer experience despite the challenging times faced by local government.
- ii) The strategy recognises that delivering a positive customer experience, the vision of the strategy, is everyone's responsibility in the council.
- iii) The Customer Experience Programme was set up to implement the strategy and this programme is run by the Transformation Service, but every single service in the council has a vital contribution to make.
- iv) The Customer Experience Programme has initiated five workstreams and made positive progress. The five workstreams are:
 - Customer journey reviews;
 - Developing a learning, development and culture change offer:
 - Improving customer data and performance management;
 - Maximising the roles of libraries;
 - Developing an improved digital offer.
- v) The programme of activities completed and planned is included in Appendix A of the report. This programme is constantly being reviewed and updated as new activities are added. Examples of progress to date were also detailed in the report.
- vi) Kari said that the programme is very broad and ambitious which inevitably presents challenges. She went on to speak about some of the challenges faced in more details and the measures being taken to address these.
- vii) She added that it is important to look at what is our starting point, where we are letting customers down and pinpointing this from a factual perspective. Efforts can then be targeted to priority areas, action taken, and success measured.
- viii) The programme team are working with the senior managers responsible for the various projects to identify how the benefits for the projects can be measured, drawing on data that is included in the new dashboard under development, as well as by collecting data that is less regular and lower volume than performance statistics.
- ix) There is a small, hardworking, committed team in place chipping away at a wide range of areas. Progress is being made but the road is a long one, however the end plan is to achieve a cultural change.
- x) The programme plan will continue to be further reviewed and refined, as will the staffing resources assigned to the programme.
- xi) The Customer Experience Strategy and the activities of the programme are monitored via a monthly programme board and reported to all Council Directors monthly. It is also being communicated to staff via a variety of methods.
- xii) Kari said that progress updates can be reported to this committee on a quarterly basis.

Following Kari's update the following comments/questions were made:

- Concerns were raised regarding the ongoing issues within the Council's Planning Department. Kari advised that Planning is one of the three areas that the team has chosen to focus on in this phase of the programme. The Planning Department recognises that they have a problem as they are dealing with high volumes/low capacity as well as recruitment issues. They are however doing their very best to deal with these challenges. The programme team have been looking at some 'quick wins' to address these issues. Work has taken place on the Council's website to allow easier access to some Planning information. This, along with some other changes that the team have been working on will shortly be delivered and it is envisaged that positive outcomes from these changes will be seen in the very near future.
- Discussions took place regarding the Council's Out of Hours Service. Kari explained that this service is provided by a third-party supplier, however it is commissioned by Enfield Council. A retendering exercise has recently taken place for the Out of Hours provision and this process will be concluded shortly. Kari said that her fear is rather than the service being bad it may be that the specification is poor. However, if the Out of Hours provider cannot adhere to our customer promise then this needs to be addressed with them.
- Members agreed that the Front of House in the reception area looks better and much more personable.

The Committee noted the report and the Chair thanked Kari for her interesting and informative update and was pleased to see that things were moving in the right direction.

964 DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

NOTED the dates of future meetings as follows:

Call in meeting

• Tuesday 19th February

Provisional Call-Ins

- Tuesday 12 March 2019
- Tuesday 26 March 2019
- Thursday 11 April 2019

Please note, the business meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee will be held on:

• Wednesday 3 April 2019

965

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

Resolved in accordance with the principles of Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of the Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act (as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006

966

PART 2 AGENDA CALL IN OF REPORT - MERIDIAN WATER - NATIONAL GRID OVERAGE

The Committee received the information provided on the call-in report: Meridian Water- National Grid Overage which had been included in part 2 section of the agenda

NOTED

- 1. The information was considered in conjunction with the report on the part 1 agenda.
- 2. Councillor Smith set out the reasons for calling in the decision:
 - The report to extinguish the overage is not satisfactory in terms of the information provided to justify the decision.
 - No reference to the original report authorising the purchase of the three sites for the National Grid. No details either of the proposed overage agreement etc.
 - Concern regarding contradictions within the report about the gross development value of Phase 1 of the site.
 - No explanation on how the council will recover the total cost of the site.
- 3. The response of Councillor Caliskan, Leader of the Council. She highlighted the following:
 - Details of the overage agreement have been provided in the attachment to the DAR.
 - The gross development value of Phase 1 of the site quoted in the report is an error. The correct value was advised. This does not change the rest of the section or any of the conclusions in the report.
 - An explanation on how the council will recover the total cost of the site is covered in detail in the Part 2 report.
- 4. Other issues highlighted by officers in support of the decision included;
 - Further information and clarification on Meridian Water- National Grid Overage deed.

- Alternative options were discussed and the consequences these would have for Enfield Council. The buy-out of the NG Overage reduces the Council risk and administrative burden.
- In considering whether to buy out the overage, it is necessary to consider whether the buy-out will be a prudent use of the council's resources both in the short and long term. The report sets out the reasons why officers are of the view that the buy-out would be in accordance with the Council's fiduciary duty.

5. The summing up by Councillor Smith:

- He felt that the report was not as comprehensive as it should be in order for the Leader or the Cabinet Member to make an informed decision. He felt that the report lacked sufficient information in order to be able to fully understand the process.
- Time scales are very limited (5 working days) from when a report is published to address any issues/questions with officers.
- At this stage he would expect officers and the Administration to have a very clear knowledge of the financial outcome of Phase
 There is no evidence of the surplus/profit expected to be made. This information could have been included in the report in a simple schedule.
- He did state however that he did not feel that the decision should be referred back to the decision-making person or body

The Leader, Councillor Caliskan felt that it was a misrepresentation to say that she did not have a clear understanding of the report. This was certainly not the case otherwise she would not have made the decision.

She was pleased to hear that Councillor Smith was not suggesting that the decision be referred back. She did agree however that political debate is very important and there are always lessons to be learnt about any agreement.

Meridian Water is a huge project therefore it is only right and proper that reports are scrutinised and discussed when they come in. But to suggest that every time a key decision is made a report must then be produced that covers every section of everything is disingenuous.

The financial modelling evidences the profit/surplus expected to be made. This overage decision stacks up and is the right deal financially and unlocks potential for more homes on this site.

She also reminded Members that regular updates on Meridian Water are a standard Part 2 Agenda item at Cabinet and therefore suggested that all Members read these reports.

Following the discussion and noting all the comments made a vote took place and the committee voted unanimously to **AGREE** the original decision.